1957

Weldon R. Reeder v. General Motors Corp. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 3, 1955, plaintiff and appellant, Weldon Reeder, entered into a contract (Pl. Ex. B) with the Valley Motor Company of Logan, Utah, for the purchase of a 1955 special order Buick Sedan, turning in a used car worth \$2075.00 as part payment. The Valley Motor Company, an authorized dealer of the defendant, then placed an order for this automobile with defendant. (Pl. Ex. 3) This order was received by the defendant on January 4, 1955. (Tr. 48 and 49)

Plaintiff's order bearing his name was placed into the production schedule in the regular course of defendant's business and production or manufacture of said vehicle

completed on January 14, 1955. (Tr. 49) On January 17, Valley Motor Company notified Defendant that plaintiff desired factory delivery and this was arranged pursuant to a factory delivery authorization form of General Motors Corporation (Pl. Ex. 1) This form indicated that plaintiff was to pick up the Buick on the morning of January 20th, 1955, at the Customer Drive-Away at Flint, Michigan, where it was to be delivered by the factory prior to that date. On January 18, 1955, defendant delivered the Buick Automobile to the Customer Drive-Away in the name of the plaintiff (Tr. 49 and 50 and Pl. Ex. 2), at which time a Bill of Sale was executed by defendant in favor of General Motors Acceptance Corporation. (Pl. Ex. C) At the same time, a car invoice was executed showing the car as having been sold to General Motors Acceptance Corporation (hereinafter referred to as GMAC) for retail delivery to the plaintiff. (Pl. Ex. D) On this same form, the car invoice, (pl. Ex. D) was a Sight Draft payable to GMAC to be drawn on Valley Motor Company, the retail dealer, not due until January 26, 1955. Also, on the bottom of the Bill of Sale (Pl. Ex. C) from defendant to GMAC was a Trust Receipt between GMAC and the said Valley Motor Company, together with a promissory note from Valley Motor Company to GMAC not due until January 26, 1955. Each of these documents to-wit: The Notice of Shipment (Ex. 2), the Bill of Sale (Ex. C), and the Car Invoice (Ex. D) bore plaintiff's name upon it, and the Notice

of Shipment bore the notation after plaintiff's name: "1-20-A. M.", which corresponded to the scheduled delivery date shown on the factory delivery authorization form. (Ex. 1).

On January 18, 1955, plaintiff registered the car in his name and secured license plates for it. (Tr. 19, 20, Ex. 4)

The plaintiff made arrangements to go back to Flint, Michigan on January 20, 1955, (Tr. 20) but was delayed because a truck which a friend of his was to drive back from Michigan for Valley Motor Company would not be ready until about January 25, 1955, and plaintiff and his friend were planning to make the trip together. (Tr. 21)

On January 25, 1955, at about one o'clock in the afternoon, plaintiff called the defendant's Customer Drive-Away and asked if they had his car there for him. (Tr. 22, 36 and 43) Plaintiff was advised that his car was there and had been there since January 20th. He was asked why he had not picked it up. (Tr. 36, 43). Plaintiff advised defendant's Customer Drive-Away that he had been delayed but that he would be there in two days. Plaintiff was advised by defendant's Customer Drive-Away that this would be alright, but that they were charging him storage on the car. (Tr. 36, 43) Plaintiff agreed to this.

The evening following plaintiff's afternoon conver-

sation with Defendant's Customer Drive-Away, Mr. Ray Dilmore, an employee of the defendant, called plaintiff just as plaintiff was leaving to catch the airplane to Flint, and advised plaintiff not to go back to Flint. Apparently no reason was given. This was the same employee of the defendant who told plaintiff on January 24, 1955, that plaintiff's car never reached production. (Tr. 44, 46).

In the afternoon of January 27, 1955, plaintiff arrived at the defendant's Customer Drive-Away at Flint, Michigan, and ultimately was shown to the office of Mr. L. D. Burkhart, whose office was at the Customer Drive-Away, Flint, Michigan. Plaintiff inquired about the car and was advised that "Well your automobile isn't here." (Tr. 25) Following further conversation, plaintiff was told: "Your car is being reshipped." (Tr. 26) Plaintiff then inquired: "Had I been here on January the 20th could I have gotten my automobile?" Mr. Burkhart told plaintiff "Yes" (Tr. 26)

On January 26, 1955, the car distribution department of defendant's Buick Motor Division notified the Drive-Away Department of Buick Motor Division to return the car for shipment and the next day plaintiff's automobile was shipped to another dealer. (Tr. 51)

Plaintiff returned home and on June 28, 1955 commenced this action against Defendant.

Plaintiff alleged conversion on the part of the de-

fendant in refusing to surrender possession of said automobile to him and in selling it to another, contrary to the right of the plaintiff in the automobile. Plaintiff demanded judgment in the amount of \$3507.47 for the conversion. Defendants answer denied the allegations and a trial was held before First District Judge Lewis Jones, and a jury. At the close of the plaintiff's evidence, the defendant moved for a dismissal and for a directed verdict. The court refused. At the end of the defendant's evidence, both parties moved for a Directed Verdict, and on the theory that there was no controversy in the facts, and that all questions were questions of law, the parties stipulated that the jury might be dismissed and the matter handled by the judge in the form of a directed verdict. On October 8, 1956, the District Court entered the judgment appealed from granting defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict.

The District Court, in announcing its decision in open court, based its ruling in favor of the defendant upon one of two grounds: (1) That the defendant had the right to rescind the sale, or exercise the right of stoppage in transitu, and (2) That under the trust receipt the security was held in the car by General Motors Acceptance Corporation until the cash was received. (Tr. 65, 66)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

That the District Court erred in granting de-

fendant's motion for a directed verdict and in failing to grant plaintiff's motion for a directed verdict made at the conclusion of the evidence of the case.

ARGUMENT

This being an appeal from a judgment entered on a directed verdict for the defendant, the evidence in the case must be viewed in light most favorable to plaintiff and all evidence favorable to the plaintiff must be accepted as true and as providing all facts which it reasonably tends to prove, and the plaintiff is entitled to the benefit of all inferences fairly deducible therefrom. 2 Barron & Holtzoff, Federal Practice & Procedure, Section 1075, Page 761, and cases cited therein.

At the trial, the defendant offered no testimony from witnesses, and the testimony offered by the plaintiff is uncontradicted. There appears to be no conflict of fact, and the determination of the respective rights and duties of the parties lies in an application of statutory rules of law to those facts. The particular statutes involved are the Trust Receipts Act and the Sales Act. Both Utah and Michigan have adopted the Uniform Law on each of these subjects, so reference in this brief will be made to the Utah Law only.

The plaintiff contends that he is a "Buyer in the Ordinary Course of Trade" as defined in the Trust Receipts Act, Sec. 9-2-1, U. C. A. 1953, and is protected as such. The Plaintiff maintains that he was the purchaser

of the automobile in question and that he had the right of immediate possession at the time the defendant sold the automobile for a second time to a third party.

The undisputed facts are that plaintiff entered into a contract to buy a car from defendant's authorized dealer. The dealer ordered the car from defendant, in the name of the plaintiff, and the defendant produced the car and delivered it to its Customer Drive-Away in the name of the plaintiff. At the same time, defendant executed a Bill of Sale in favor of General Motors Acceptance Corporation, who in turn gave a Trust Receipt in favor of the dealer with whom plaintiff had his contract. In all of the documents referring to the car, plaintiff was identified as the retail purchaser of it. Under this arrangement, General Motors Acceptance Corporation was the entrustor, and Valley Motor Company, the defendant's dealer with whom plaintiff contracted, was the trustee. And, at this point in the procedure, the defendant had divested its self of title by virtue of the Bill of Sale to General Motors Acceptance Corporation.

1. *Was the plaintiff, on the facts, a Buyer in the Ordinary Course of Trade and protected as such under Sec. 9-2-1, U. C. A., 1953?*

The above stated Section reads as follows:

“Buyer in the ordinary course of trade’ means a person to whom goods are sold and delivered for new value and who acts in good faith and without actual knowledge of a limitation on the

trustee's liberty of sale, including one who takes by conditional sale or under a pre-existing mercantile contract with the trustee to buy the goods delivered, or like goods, for cash or on credit . . ."

The plaintiff meticulously fits into this definition. He was sold the goods by Valley Motor Company under a Retail Car Contract and paid \$2075.00 for them in the form of a trade-in. This comes within the phrase "a pre-existing mercantile contract with the trustee (Valley Motor Company) to buy the goods delivered for cash or on credit." There was no limitation on the trustee's liberty of sale, (See bottom of Ex. C for Trust Receipt) but even if there were the plaintiff's good faith has not been question and actual knowledge of any limitation has never been asserted.

As to the delivery factor, no case law has succinctly placed the boundaries of the term delivery as here used. Its purpose, however, has been commented on as being a requisite to prevent collusive transactions where there is no actual sale. See Heindl, *Trust Receipt Financing under the Uniform Trust Receipts Act.*, 26 Chi.-Kent L. Rev. 197, 246 (1948). No such factor appears anywhere in this case, therefore the question of "delivery" is not a substantial problem. But be that as it may, there was a delivery in this case which should more than satisfy the requirements of the statute. At the time Valley Motor Company placed the plaintiffs car order (Ex. 3) with the defendant, a special stamp containing "Flint Retail

Store, name, date, time,” was placed on this order over the plaintiffs name and over the date and time “1-20 AM”. When the plaintiff called as a witness Mr. Robert Dilmore, who was, during the time of the transaction mentioned herein, a district manager for Buick Motor Division of the defendant General Motors Corporation (Tr. 31), Mr. Dilmer was asked the following question: Question by Mr. Olson:

“Well, how does the Buick Division know that the car should be kept at the customer drive-away rather than sent to the dealer?”

Answer by Mr. Dilmore:

“Well, that is established on that Wholesale Car Order Form by a special stamp.” (Tr. 52)

Mr. Dilmore was then shown the wholesale car order and he identified the special stamp on it.(Tr. 53)

The question was then asked Mr. Dilmore:

“So that when the dealer indicates that on the wholesale order the customer wants factory delivery and that stamp is placed on there, Buick Motor Division acknowledges that information and agrees to deliver it to the Customer Drive-Away?”

Mr. Dilmore’s answer was: “That is right.” (Tr. 53)

Then, on January 18th, 1955, the defendant executed Exhibit 2, the Notie of Shipment giving notice that the automobile which had been manufactured or produced

pursuant to the order for plaintiff was shipped to defendant's drive-away, Flint, Michigan. This Notice of Shipment identifies a sales order by Number 8091, the same number contained on the wholesale car order, Exhibit 3.

And there is no question but that the automobile was delivered to Customer Drive-Away by defendant. The question was asked the defendant, (Tr. 49): "Was the said vehicle ever delivered to Buick Customer Drive-Away?"

Answer: "Yes."

Question: "If so, when?"

Answer: "January 18, 1955."

Question: "If so, in the name of what customer?"

Answer: "Weldon R. Reeder."

Certainly this constitutes a sufficient delivery. *Whitmore Oxygen Co. vs. Utah State Tax Comm.*, 114 U. 1, 196 P(2d) 976, (1948) at Page 980; *Haynes vs. Douglas Fir Ex. Co.*, Ore., 90 P(2d) 761, (1939).

And see in this respect the Utah case of *Middleton vs. Evans*, 86 U. 396, 45 P. (2d) 570, (1935), wherein this Court said:

"If there is any question about the delivery in this case to the carrier being sufficient to constitute an unconditional appropriation to this contract, it will be settled by the fact that it is a well-

established rule that delivery to a person appointed by the buyer to receive the goods or to any third person at the buyer's request or with his consent is sufficient delivery to the buyer." Citing authority.

But to take the matter a step further, and assuming for purpose of argument that the facts above stated do not constitute a delivery under the Trust Receipts Act, it is submitted that there are a long line of cases holding that actual manual transfer of possession is not necessary to constitute delivery. In *Van Drimmelen vs. Converse*, 190 Iowa 1350, 181 N. W. 699 (1921) it was stated that "Delivery does not imply a physical change of location, but is determined by the intent of the parties at the time of the sale to transfer to the vendee the dominion and control over the thing purchased". No part of the purchase price in that case had been paid, nor had the buyer removed the goods from the seller's premises, but it was the *understanding* of the parties that the buyer was to "remove the corn from the premises as soon as possible". The court held that this constituted sufficient delivery in construing the important delivery requirement of the statute of frauds.

Similarly in the law of Bailments, where the law requires a delivery of the property from the bailor to the bailee as an essential element of the bailment contract, the law always recognizes a bailment in situations where a vendor of goods retains possession of them under circumstances where the property in the goods has passed,

and hold the vendor of the property to be the bailee even though there has been no physical delivery of the property to the bailee. 8 C. J. S. Bailments, 3 (g).

In the case at bar, the automobile was shipped by the defendant to the Customer Drive-Away in the name of the plaintiff. It was to be picked up by the plaintiff on January 20, 1955. This was in lieu of the more usual shipment to the dealer and later delivery to the buyer. It was agreed by all concerned that the Customer Drive-Away garage was to be the delivery point. This was confirmed by a telephone conversation on January 25, 1955, when the personnel of the garage informed the plaintiff that they were holding the automobile for him charging him storage, and then inquired when he would be there to pick the car up. This, along with the many documents that named the plaintiff and the place of delivery, would seem to be sound proof of the intention of the parties.

Further, these facts are indicative of the accepted relationship between the parties. The garage was charging storage, from the date of defendant's delivery to it on the 20th. They were bailees of the automobile for the benefit of the plaintiff, the bailor. This is supported by the many railroad carrier cases, which if not directly in point, are very closely analagous to the present situation. In *Neimeyer Lumber Co. vs Burlington & M. R. R. Co.*, 54 Neb. 321, 74 N. W. 670 (1898), the court stated that "When delivery is made to a carrier, he is in contem-

plation of law the bailee of the person to whom and not by whom goods are consigned.” Thus it has long been the rule of law that the vendee and not the vendor has the risk of loss once delivery to the carrier has been made and has the right to sue the carrier for negligence.

Carrier’s also charge storage on goods ready to be picked up after the passage of free time, as do other bailee’s such as warehousemen at the end of the railroad line, and as we submit does the Customer Drive-Away Garage who is in receipt of an automobile shipped to them from the factory to be held for a buyer.

According to the Notice of Shipment, (Exhibit 2) the automobile was shipped to the Customer Drive-Away Garage on January 18, 1955 as per the agreement of the parties. Although the carrier is unknown, the evidence indicated that the automobile was shipped and that it did arrive at the garage. Sec. 60-3-6, U. C. A., 1953 indicates that under this set of facts it is “deemed to be delivery of the goods to the buyer . . .” *Alderman Bros. Co. vs. Westinghouse Air Brake Co.* 92 Conn. 419, 103 A. 267 (1918). The exception stated in Sec. 60-2-3, Rule (5), does not change this result.

It should be firmly kept in mind that at all times during the critical periods involved in this action the property in the automobile had passed from the defendant.

Rule 5 of Section 60-2-3, U. C. A., 1953, provides:

“If a contract to sell requires the seller to deliver the goods to the buyer, *or at a particular place*, or to pay the freight or cost of transportation to the buyer or to a particular place, the property does not pass until the goods have been delivered to the buyer or *have reached the place agreed upon.*” (Emphasis ours)

See also Rule 2 concerning contracts to sell specific goods and Rule 4(a) concerning contracts to sell unascertained or future goods by description when goods of that description and in a deliverable state are unconditionally appropriated to the contract.

In *Birdsong et al vs. W. H. & F. Jordon, Jr. Inc.*, 297 Fed. 742, (1924) the court construed the New York law in this respect by saying that when a chattel is to be delivered to a particular place and it is so delivered, title then passes. Possession of the goods has no bearing on the question of when title passes. The court also pointed out that title may pass simultaneously to a buyer and to a purchaser from that buyer when delivery is to be made at the same time and place.

The plaintiff submits that on the facts he was buyer in the ordinary course of trade and the provisions of Sec. 9-2-9, (2) U.C.A., 1953, apply.

We turn now to the question of the rights of the defendant in disposing of the Automobile and the rights of plaintiff under said Sec. 9-2-9, (2) U.C.A., 1953.

II. *Did the defendant have the rights of an entruster*

under the trust receipt issued on January 18, 1955?

The Trust Receipt was issued by the defendant naming General Motor's Acceptance Corporation, herein referred to as GMAC, as the entrustor and Valley Motor Company as the trustee. This gave GMAC a security interest in the automobile and gave Valley Motor Company the power to sell it, which, of course, they had done. The purpose of this transaction is evident. GMAC becomes the financing agency, paying the defendant for the automobile and receiving by assignment the rights of the seller. General Motors thereby avoids the financing risk and the administrative expense. The remaining interest of the defendant is of a parental nature in looking out for a close business associate. Since General Motors and GMAC are two separate corporations, to hold that General Motors can exercise rights assigned to GMAC is to say that there is no distinction between the two.

Assuming, however, that the defendant can exercise those rights the question becomes: "Can those rights prevail over a Buyer in the ordinary Course of Trade?"

Sec. 9-2-9 (2) U.C.A., 1953, is emphatic when it says " . . . such buyer takes free of the entruster's security interest in the goods so sold . . . "

This result and its justification can be found in *Peoples Finance and Thrift Co. of Visalia v. Bowman et al*, 58 Cal Ap 2d 729, 137 P2d. (1943), a case which

points out that it was the misplaced confidence of the entrustor in the trustee's integrity that caused the loss. The entrustor must stay consistent with the faith he has placed in his trustee. See also *Commercial Discount Co. v. Mehne*, 42 Cal Ap 2d 220, 108 P2d 735, (1941).

III. *Did the Defendant on the facts have right to exercise an unpaid seller's lien under Sec. 60-4-1, U.C.A., 1953?*

In its oral decision, the lower court indicated that defendant had the rights of an unpaid seller, to-wit: right to rescind and stoppage in transitu. To exercise such rights, the seller must comply with the requisites as set out in the sales act, which is in effect both in Utah and Michigan.

a) Was the Defendant an unpaid Seller?

The Bill of Sale and Invoice show on their face that when the title passed from General Motors to GMAC, GMAC gave "valuable consideration". The defendant has stated that this consisted of a note that was later returned under the date of January 31, 1955. This was after the conversation in question and has no bearing on the position of the seller at the time of the conversion. Further it must be pointed out that the letter supposedly sent on January 31, 1955 was stamped received by the addressee in August of 1955, after suit had been filed. That fact remains that at the time of the

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