1957

## Weldon R. Reeder v. General Motors Corp. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

The judgment of the trial court in denying plaintiff recovery for conversion was correct, because :

- (a) Plaintiff did not show title to the car ;
- (b) Plaintiff did not show any contractual obligation on the part of defendant to deliver title to plaintiff ; and
- (c) Plaintiff did not show any conduct on the part of defendant which would stop it from denying title to the car to be in plaintiff.

This is an action for conversion based upon plaintiff's alleged ownership of the car. Where right to possession is based upon ownership and title, plaintiff must prove that fact. The rule is well stated in cases from this Court :

*Madsen v. Madsen*, 269 Pac. 132, 72 Utah 96, as follows :

“A conversion of personal property is defined as an unauthorized assumption and exercise of the right of ownership over goods or personal chattels *of another* to the alteration of their con-

dition or the exclusion of the *owner's rights*, and 'trover' is the technical name of the common-law action provided for the redress thereof (38 Cyc. 2005), and the measure of damages for conversion when property is not returned is the value of the property at the time of the conversion, plus interest."

*Johnson v. Flowers*, 228 Pac. 2d 406, 119 Utah 425:

"The general rule is announced in 53 Am. Jur., Trover and Conversion, p. 863-4, Sec. 68, as follows: 'The general rule is that an action for conversion is not maintainable unless the plaintiff, at the time of the alleged conversion, is entitled to the immediate possession of the property. An interest in the property which does not carry with it a right to possession is not sufficient; the right to maintain the action may not be based upon a right to possession at a future time.' "

*Larsen v. Knight*, 233 Pac. 2d 365, 120 Utah 261:

" 'The general rule is that an action for conversion is not maintainable unless the plaintiff, at the time of the alleged conversion, is entitled to the immediate possession of the property.' 53 Am. J. 863; *Johnson v. Flowers*, Utah, 228 P. 2d 406."

*Christensen v. Pugh*, 36 Pac. 2d 100, 84 Utah 440:

"Conversion is any unauthorized act of dominion or ownership exercised by one person *over the personal property of another* in denial of his right in the property, or inconsistent with it. Cooley on Torts (4th Ed.) Sec. 331. The most frequently quoted definition is that in 2 Greenleaf on Evid., Sec. 642: 'Conversion consists either in the appropriation of a thing to the party's own use and beneficial enjoyment, or in its destruction, or in exercising dominion over it, *in exclusion or de-*

*fiance of the owner's right, or in withholding the possession of the property from the owner under a claim of title inconsistent with his own.'* Under all the authorities where transfer of possession was had by the owner's consent, even though under misrepresentation as to the purpose for the transfer, until some act is done by the bailee which is a denial, or violation, or disregard, of the owner's rights in the property, conversion will not lie. *The gist of conversion is not the acquisition of property by a wrongdoer, but the wrongful deprivation of it to the owner.'*

See also *Lee Woodworking Company v. Hub Plating Works*, 217 Fed. 2d 453:

“It is fundamental that the plaintiff would be required to prove title to the property and the right to immediate possession before it could recover in trover. *Nettleton v. Kerr*, 167 Ill. App. 74; *Ridge v. Giffrow*, 220 Ill. App. 590.”

Since this is the general rule we shall cite no further cases.

Plaintiff, by his own evidence, showed title and right to possession in General Motors Corporation, defendant, under the terms of Exhibit 1 until it was paid in cash for the car.

He also proved by his evidence, assuming the transaction with General Motors Acceptance Corporation to have been completed, which it was not because the papers were still in the hands of G.M.A.C., that title to the car and right of possession were in G.M.A.C. until the car was paid for. Neither title or possession, or the right

to title, passed from defendant and G.M.A.C. according to plaintiff's own evidence.

Since neither General Motors or G.M.A.C. was ever paid for the car by either Valley or plaintiff, there the matter of title and right to possession rests so far as this case is concerned, according to the written documents presented by plaintiff himself.

Plaintiff seeks to overcome this obvious defect in his case by two arguments:

1. That he was told by some unidentified telephone operator over long distance phone on January 25, 1956, that his car was ready for him; and
2. That the Valley Motor Company, by reason of the trust receipt (Ex. C) became trustee of the title for plaintiff; and that since plaintiff had theretofore made a contract with Valley for purchase of the car, plaintiff had the right as third party beneficiary to title and possession as against General Motors and G.M.A.C., notwithstanding the wording of the contract papers.

We shall discuss these two propositions in the order stated.

## 1.

### TELEPHONE CONVERSATION

A telephone conversation with some unidentified telephone operator was insufficient to divest defendant or

G.M.A.C. of title to the car as established by the written contract documents introduced in evidence by plaintiff. Plaintiff seems to place great weight upon this alleged conversation. In the absence of any showing as to the identity and authority of this telephone operator, this is completely answered by the case of *Utah Foundry & Machine Company v. Utah Gas & Coke Co.*, 131 Pac. 1173, 42 Utah 533. In that case plaintiff brought action for moneys due for iron castings sold to defendant. Defendant counterclaimed for conversion. One Wright was agent for defendant and allegedly unlawfully sold iron to one Croft. This Court laid down the following rule as to the authority of an agent as follows:

“There is the evidence of Croft, Sr.’s admission that he received iron from Wright; that he paid him for it; and that he presumed Wright had paid it to the defendant.

\* \* \* \*

“The admission of Croft, Sr., was not a binding admission of the plaintiff. He was the secretary of the plaintiff corporation, and its bookkeeper, and collector. *The rule is well settled that, to bind the principal with an admission of his agent, the declaration or statement of the agent must have been made within the scope of his employment and during the transaction of business by him for the principal and in relation to such business; that is, the declaration or statement of the agent must be contemporaneous with or in the course of the business or transaction and in relation thereto conducted by the agent for the principal within the scope of the agency. The declarations or statements of the agent here were not made under any such circumstance. They were made long after the transactions with respect to which they were de-*

clared had wholly ended, long after the business had been conducted, and were not made in the course of nor in relation to any business which the agent was then transacting or conducting for the principal. Certainly, an agent not in the course or transaction of any business for his principal, may not on the public mart or elsewhere make binding admissions of fact against his principal by a mere narration of facts relating to transactions wholly ended and long past. Property rights of the principal cannot be bartered away in any such manner as that.” (Italics supplied)

The written contract, Sec. 35, Ex. 1, expressly precluded the authority of anyone to alter the contract by oral commitment, and certainly an unidentified telephone operator could not do it.

## 2.

### TRUST RECEIPT ACT AND SALES ACT

Plaintiff seeks by some type of legal gymnastics to write his name as beneficiary of the trust receipt written up by G.M.A.C., held in its files, never delivered to Valley, and subsequently returned to defendant. He would delete the entire wording of the document itself which expressly states on its face, if it were supposed that it had become a valid document, *that title was to remain in G.M.A.C. until it was paid for the car by Valley*, and expressly negated the right of Valley to sell or convey the car. *Valley was not trustee of the title, as argued by plaintiff. G.M.A.C. held title. Valley was to have had*

*only a qualified and limited right of possession, which it never took.*

By what legal sophistry can a court be urged to write into a document something that is not there, and delete from a document what is expressly written into it? This Court has many times held in no uncertain terms that the function of a court is to interpret written documents, not to rewrite the contract to suit litigants. It is not necessary to cite cases on a proposition as fundamental as this.

In the first place, the Trust Receipts Act of either Utah or Michigan has no place in this case. The trustee (Valley) was never given title to be held in trust. If plaintiff felt that he had some case under the Michigan law, by reason of this trust receipt (Ex. C), it would have to be an action against G.M.A.C. for violation of the trust document. He would have to allege and prove the Michigan law, and then prove some obligation on the part of G.M.A.C. to deliver title to plaintiff in spite of and notwithstanding the express wording of the trust receipt to the contrary. The Utah Trust Receipts Act has no place in the case whatsoever. That part of the transaction took place in Michigan and the documents never left the possession of G.M.A.C. in Michigan. The express wording of the statute under the definition of trustee is that the trustee is one who has *possession* of property or documents under a trust receipt. Valley never had actual possession or title.

The purpose of the Trust Receipts Act, if it had anything to do with this case, is to permit the warehousing of merchandise, with title retaining features, without compliance with the recording statutes of the State where the warehousing is to be done. Nowhere does the Trust Receipts Act invalidate the terms and provisions of the trust documents, and this is particularly true where the title and possession are retained by the entrustor.

Sec. 9-2-1, UCA, 1953, expressly states that it applies only to a sale by the trustee *for new value*, where the goods are *sold and delivered for new value*, or where the *delivery* is made on a pre-existing contract for cash or on credit.

Plaintiff's purchase contract with Valley was on January 3, 1955, at which time he turned in his old car to Valley. This was fifteen days *before* the date of the trust receipt. There is no evidence that he *thereafter* gave any *new value* to either Valley or defendant G.M.A.C.

Plaintiff never had delivery of the car from anyone. Counsel's argument that delivery of the car by defendant to its own Customer Drive-Away department constituted delivery to plaintiff is so fantastic and so unrealistic as to require no answer.

The purpose of Sec. 9-2-1 of the Trust Receipts Act, if it were applicable, is to create an estoppel against the entrustor (in this case it would be G.M.A.C.) in favor of a *subsequent* purchaser who parts with *new value* and



who takes *delivery* from a trustee in possession of the property, or a prior purchaser who subsequently parts with *new value* by way of *cash or credit* and *who takes delivery* from a *trustee in possession*. Plaintiff does not fit into this picture by any stretch of the imagination. Whatever of value he parted with was on January 3, 1955, and the contract that he signed was on the same date, fifteen days prior to the date of the trust receipt, and plaintiff never at any time parted with any value to Valley *after* the date of the trust receipt; and the alleged trustee *never had possession*, which is the very basis of applicability of the Trust Receipts Act.

The same general principles are set forth in our Sales Act (Sec. 60-2-7, UCA 1953) which reads as follows:

“Sale by a person not the owner.—(1) Subject to the provisions of this title, where goods are sold by a person who is not the owner thereof, and who does not sell them under the authority or with the consent of the owner, the buyer acquires no better title to the goods than the seller had, unless the owner of the goods is by his conduct precluded from denying the seller’s authority to sell.

“(2) Nothing in this title, however, shall effect:

“(a) The provisions of any factors’ acts, recording acts, or any enactment enabling the apparent owner of goods to dispose of them as if he were the true owner thereof.

“(b) The validity of any contract to sell or sale under any special common law or statutory power of sale, or under the order of a court of competent jurisdiction.”

See also *Schwartz v. White*, 13 Pac. 2d 643, and *Thomas v. Farrell*, 26 Pac. 2d 328. Both are Utah cases.

The various elements to constitute an estoppel in all of its phases has been clearly set forth in the Utah case of *Barber v. Anderson*, 274 P. 136:

“ ‘In conformity with the principle already stated which lies at the basis of the doctrine, and upon the authority of decisions which have recognized and adopted that principle, the following are the essential elements which enter into and form a part of an equitable estoppel in all of its phases and applications. One caution, however, is necessary and very important. It would be unsafe and misleading to rely on these general requisites as applicable to every case, without examining the instances in which they have been modified or limited. 1. There must be a conduct — acts, language, or silence — amounting to a representation or a concealment of material facts. 2. These facts must be known to the party estopped at the time of his said conduct, or at least the circumstances must be such that knowledge of them is necessarily imputed to him. 3. The truth concerning these facts must be unknown to the other party claiming the benefit of the estoppel, at the time when such conduct was done, *and at the time when it was acted upon by him*. 4. The conduct must be done with the intention, or at least with the *expectation*, that it will be acted upon by the other party, or under such circumstances that it is both natural and probable that it will be so acted upon. There are several familiar species in which it is simply impossible to ascribe any intention or even expectation to the party estopped that his conduct will be acted upon by the one who afterwards claims the benefit of the estoppel. 5. The conduct must

be relied upon by the other party, and, *thus relying, he must be led to act upon it.* 6. *He must in fact act upon it in such a manner as to change his position for the worse*; in other words, he must so act that he would suffer a loss if he were compelled to surrender or forego or alter what he has done by reason of the first party being permitted to repudiate his conduct and to assert rights inconsistent with it.' ''

Also, see Utah cases of *Cook v. Cook*, 174 Pac. 2d 434, and *Cache Valley General Hospital v. Cache County*, 67 Pac. 2d 639. There is no estoppel where one party has not conducted himself so that another acts in reliance on his conduct.

The elements of estoppel in the case at bar are conspicuous only by their entire absence. At the time plaintiff made his agreement with Valley Motor and at the time he parted with his property there was no conduct or representation upon the part of the defendant. None is contended. Wherein did plaintiff change his position for the worse by reason of any conduct on the part of defendant? The record clearly and beyond any doubts refutes all such ideas. Quite the contrary, at the earliest opportunity the defendant advised the plaintiff *not* to alter or change his position.

There seems to be no doubt that the sales contract between the plaintiff and Valley Motor was breached by the Valley Motor and plaintiff undoubtedly believes that they are no longer responsible. Of this fact we have no knowledge. We do know that in this action the plaintiff

is grasping at straws in order to recoup his loss. We know of no action that may be based on such a notion.

Plaintiff refers to Valley as defendant's authorized dealer and implies that there is some agency relationship between defendant and Valley. The contract expressly says to the contrary. And these contracts have uniformly been upheld by the courts. Without extensive quotations, we cite the following authorities:

*Whitson et al v. Pacific Nash Motor Co.*, 215 Pac. 846.

*S. B. McMaster, Inc. v. Chevrolet Motor Co.*, 3 Fed. 2d 469.

*Hudson v. Gulf Oil Co.*, 2 S. E. 2d 26.

*Ford v. Willys-Overland, Inc.*, 147 S. E. 822.

*Anheuser-Busch v. Manion*, 100 S. W. 2d 672.

*Detroit Motor Appliance Co. v. Taylor*, 4 F. Supp. 2d 520.

*Brown v. Cleveland Tractor Co.*, 251 N. W. 557.

*Piper v. Oakland Motor Company*, 109 A. 911.

*Watson et al v. Oregon Moline Plow Co.*, 193 Pac. 222.

*Gibbs v. Plymouth Motor Co.*, 166 S. E. 74.

*Silverman v. Samuel Mallinger Co.*, 100 A. (2d) 715.

*State v. W. T. Rawleigh Co.*, 174 S. E. 385.

*Mathews Conveyor Co. v. Palmer-Bee Co.*, 135 Fed. 2d 73.

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